Mississippi State University Scholars Junction

Theses and Dissertations

Theses and Dissertations

8-7-2010

An examination of the characteristics, duties, and training needs of district level technology coordinators in Mississippi school districts

Vicki Michelle Nash Webster

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsjunction.msstate.edu/td

Recommended Citation

Webster, Vicki Michelle Nash, "An examination of the characteristics, duties, and training needs of district level technology coordinators in Mississippi school districts" (2010). *Theses and Dissertations*. 539. https://scholarsjunction.msstate.edu/td/539

This Dissertation - Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses and Dissertations at Scholars Junction. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholars Junction. For more information, please contact scholcomm@msstate.libanswers.com.

AN EXAMINATION OF THE CHARACTERISTICS, DUTIES, AND TRAINING NEEDS OF DISTRICT LEVEL TECHNOLOGY COORDINATORS IN MISSISSIPPI SCHOOL DISTRICTS

By

Vicki Michelle Nash Webster

A Dissertation Submitted to the Faculty of Mississippi State University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Instructional Systems and Workforce Development in the Department of Instructional Systems and Workforce Development

Mississippi State, Mississippi

August, 2010

Copyright by

Vicki Michelle Nash Webster

2010

AN EXAMINATION OF THE CHARACTERISTICS, DUTIES, AND TRAINING

NEEDS OF DISTRICT LEVEL TECHNOLOGY COORDINATORS IN

MISSISSIPPI SCHOOL DISTRICTS

By

Vicki Michelle Nash Webster

Approved:

Linda F. Cornelious Professor and Interim Department Head of Instructional Systems and Workforce Development (Major Professor and Director of Dissertation) (Graduate Coordinator) Anna Dill Director The Learning Center (Committee Member)

Connie M. Forde Professor of Instructional Systems and Workforce Development (Committee Member) Dwight Hare Professor of Leadership and Foundations (Committee Member)

Richard L. Blackbourn Dean of the College of Education Name: Vicki Michelle Nash Webster

Date of Degree: August 1, 2010

Institution: Mississippi State University

Major Field: Instructional Systems and Workforce Development

Major Professor: Dr. Linda F. Cornelious

Title of Study: AN EXAMINATION OF THE CHARACTERISTICS, DUTIES, AND TRAINING NEEDS OF DISTRICT LEVEL TECHNOLOGY COORDINATORS IN MISSISSIPPI SCHOOL DISTRICTS

Pages in Study: 95

Candidate for Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

The primary purpose of this study was to examine the characteristics, duties, and training needs of district level technology coordinators in Mississippi school districts. Prior research was limited on the role of technology coordinators in the United States, and no research was found in the literature that focused specifically on technology coordinators at the district level in Mississippi. The research design for the study was descriptive. A survey instrument was used to collect demographic data. The survey was emailed to 138 technology coordinators. There were 4 technology coordinators that opted out of the survey, 8 emails were bounced back to the research and 55 responded for a response rate of 43.6%. Descriptive statistics were used to analyze data for the 4 research questions.

The results of this study indicated that district technology coordinators in Mississippi have a multitude of responsibilities that vary greatly. The majority of participants in this study are responsible for duties that range from working one-on-one with teachers, installing and troubleshooting hardware and software, purchasing technology resources, planning technology related professional development activities for other staff members, as well as other duties. A majority of respondents indicated that they needed additional training to perform their duties effectively. Participants were given the opportunity to rank their most important training needs as administrative, technical, or educational research oriented. Administrative training was chosen as more important than any other training need.

DEDICATION

This research is dedicated to my husband, Ambrose G. Webster II, who has been extremely supportive during this academic process. I would also like to dedicate this study to my mother, Luci W. Nash, my nephew Tyan Deonis Nash, and my son, Daniel Nash Webster, who have all been a great inspiration to me.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I want to express my sincere gratitude to my dissertation director, Dr. Linda Cornelious who has provided patience and a guiding hand when I needed it most. I also want to thank my doctoral committee members Dr. Anna Dill, Dr. Connie Forde, and Dr. Dwight Hare. My sincerest gratitude to Dr. Hare for being willing to reach out with a special nudge of encouragement when the process seemed unmanageable or when problems seemed insurmountable.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDI	CATION	ii
ACKN	IOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
LIST (OF TABLES	vii
СНАР	TER	
I.	INTRODUCTION	1
	Statement of Purpose	3
	Research Questions	4
	Justification of the Study	4
	Limitations	6
	Definition of Terms	6
II.	REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE	8
	Integrating Technology into Curriculum	8
	Assessing Training Needs and Discovering Characteristics	12
	Organizational Analysis	14
	Job/Task Analysis	17
	Traits of Effective Technology Coordinators	19
	Individual/Person Analysis	19
	Educational Background	20
	Experience and Certification Levels	21
	Summary	23
III.	METHODOLOGY	24
	Research Design	24
	Instrumentation	26
	Validity and Reliability	27
	Pilot Study	
	Variables of the Study	

	Population	
	Procedures	29
	Data Analysis	30
IV.	RESULTS	32
	Demographic and Response Data	33
	Age of Respondents	
	Gender of Respondents	
	Ethnic Background of Respondents	
	Research Question Analysis	
	Research Question 1	35
	Characteristics of Technology Coordinators	
	Duties of Technology Coordinators	40
	Research Question 2	42
	Research Question 3	44
	Relationship between Training and Possession of Educator License	45
	Relationship between Technical Experience and Type of Training	45
	Relationship between IT Certifications and Type of Training	46
	Research Question 4	
	Summary of Results	59
V.	SUMMARY, DISCUSSION, CONCLUSIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS	61
	Summary	61
	Discussion	
	Conclusion	65
	Recommendations for Mississippi Technology Coordinators	
	and for Further Research	66
DEFE	RENCES	(0
KEFE	KENCES	08
APPE	NDIX	
А.	DISTRICT TECHNOLOGY COORDINATOR SURVEY LESISKO (2004)	73
В.	REQUEST TO USE DISTRICT TECHNOLOGY COORDINATOR SURVEY	79
C.	APPROVAL TO USE DISTRICT TECHNOLOGY COORDINATOR SURVEY	81
D.	INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD (IRB) APPROVAL	83

E.	TECHNOLOGY SURVEY EMAIL	85
F.	TECHNOLOGY COORDINATOR SURVEY	87
G.	FOLLOW UP EMAIL	92
Н.	PILOT STUDY: SURVEY INSTRUMENT ASSESSMENT FORM	94

LIST OF TABLES

1	Technology Coordinator Age Distribution	34
2	Technology Coordinator Gender Distribution	35
3	Technology Coordinator Ethnicity Distribution	35
4	Technology Coordinator Teaching License Distribution	36
5	Technology Coordinator Salary Range	37
6	Technology Coordinator K-12 Teaching Experience	37
7	Technology Coordinator University Teaching Experience	38
8	Technology Coordinator Technical Experience	38
9	Technology Coordinator IT Certification Obtained	38
10	IT Certifications Currently Held by Technology Coordinators	39
11	Technology Coordinator Degrees Obtained	39
12	Technology Coordinators Holding More Than One Position	40
13	Technology Coordinator Duties	41
14	Perception of Need for Additional Training	42
15	Ranking of Necessary Type of Training	43
16	Frequency of Training	44
17	Chi-Square Test for Training and Possession of Educator License	45

18	Chi-Square Test for Technical Experience and Type of Training	45
19	Chi-Square Test for IT Certifications and Type of Training	46
20	Cross Tabulation of Working with Classroom Teachers and Training Needed	47
21	Chi-Square Test for Working with Classroom Teachers and Training Needed	48
22	Cross Tabulation of Installation of Software and Training Needed	49
23	Chi-Square Test for Installation of Software and Training Needed	49
24	Cross Tabulation of Installation of Hardware and Training Needed	50
25	Chi-Square Test for Installation of Hardware and Training Needed	50
26	Cross Tabulation for Working with Students and Training Needed	51
27	Chi-Square Test for Working with Students and Training Needed	51
28	Cross Tabulation for Handling Subordinate Personnel Issues and Training Needed	52
29	Chi-Square Test for Handling Subordinate Personnel Issues and Training Needed	53
30	Cross Tabulation for Informing Staff and Training Needed	53
31	Chi-Square Test for Informing Staff and Training Needed	54
32	Cross Tabulation for Researching Emerging Technologies and Training Needed	54
33	Chi-Square Test for Researching Emerging Technologies and Training Needed	55
34	Cross Tabulation for Working with School Board Members and Training Needed	56
35	Chi-Square Test for Researching with School Board Members and Training Needed	56

36	Cross Tabulation for Physically Managing the District Network system and Training Needed	57
37	Chi-Square Test for Physically Managing the District Network System and Training Needed	57
38	Cross Tabulation for Planning Technology Related Professional Development and Training Needed	58
39	Chi-Square Test for Planning Technology Related Professional Development and Training Needed	59

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

The technology coordinator provides a critical role in a school district's technology support system (McLeod, 2003). Many schools had only one or two computers per classroom prior to the 1990s. However, technology acquisition in the 1990s created new possibilities for learning (Staples, Pugach, & Himes, 2005). Therefore, the number of coordinator positions increased during the 1990s as technology became more prevalent in schools (Frazier, 2003). For example, in 1994, only 35% of public schools had access to the Internet. However, nearly 100% of public schools had access to the Internet. However, nearly 100% of public schools had access to the Internet by the fall of 2003 (Becker, 2007). Individuals who serve in the role of technology coordinator are responsible for providing technical support services, staff development, technology planning, and providing administrative support for teachers who integrate technology into their curriculum (Cox-Cruey, 1998; Lesisko, 2004). The benefits of competent technology coordinators are well known. Therefore, teacher access to knowledgeable and skilled technology coordinators positively influences their use of teaching strategies in the classroom (Silverstein, Frechtling, & Miyaoka, 2000).

In some cases, in order to improve technology integration into curriculum efforts, schools have been able to secure building level technology coordinators through the

acquisition of grant monies (Staples, et al., 2005). However, in many cases a district managing multiple schools is relying on a single technology coordinator as the technology specialist.

Although the importance of the technology coordinator's role has been well documented, there is little information known about the individuals who serve in these positions (McLeod, 2003). Research is limited on the role of technology coordinators in the United States, and no research was found in the literature that focused specifically on technology coordinators at the district level in Mississippi. However, it is clear that the characteristics, duties, and even job titles of technology coordinators can vary greatly between states, as well as between districts within a state (Cox-Cruey, 1998; Lesisko, 2004; Wagner, 2004). In fact, Lesisko's (2004) study on technology coordinators revealed 45 different position titles among 87 technology leaders.

Historically, technology coordinators have been hired from a variety of backgrounds and often lacked either the technical training or theoretical educational foundation the position required (Frazier, 2003; Hawkes & Brockmueller, 2003; Tomasso, 2003). The working environment of the technology coordinator can also differ greatly (Cox-Cruey, 1998; Lesisko, 2004; Tomasso, 2003; Wagner, 2004). For example, Cox-Cruey (1998) indicated that one-third of school districts surveyed in Kentucky relied solely on the district technology coordinator for support. Half of those surveyed by Cox-Cruey held the position of district technology coordinator exclusively while other participants were responsible for a variety of other jobs within the district such as Title I Coordinator, Food Service Coordinator and Director of Pupil Personnel. The duties of the technology coordinator can be varied and complex. As such, Collins and Dewees (2001) revealed that technology decision makers often have little or no technology training or resources to make knowledgeable decisions.

Statement of Purpose

Research in several states has suggested that technology coordinators can be responsible for many tasks including offering technical, administrative, and instructional support (Lewis, 2005; Wagner, 2004). These individuals are hired from a variety of backgrounds that may or may not include technical training, or they may lack educational theoretical knowledge (Frazier, 2003; Tomasso, 2003). However, positions of administrative leadership like technology coordinators are considered pivotal in ensuring successful technology integration into curriculum.

If technology coordinators are to provide support to educational staff, they will need training and staff development opportunities to make knowledgeable decisions. (Collins & Dewees, 1998; Cox-Cruey, 2001; Lesisko, 2004). Although some research has been conducted in a few other states that identify the issues facing technology coordinators, no research was identified specifically addressing the state of Mississippi.

The purpose of this study was to examine whether Mississippi Technology Coordinators were responsible for a variety of tasks as shown in other states, possessed the technical or educational backgrounds for their roles, and had acquired additional training and if so, what additional training was considered most important by them. Technology coordinators from Mississippi were surveyed in order to better understand their current working environment, responsibilities or duties, and to determine whether or not the technology coordinators perceived additional training was necessary.

Research Questions

The following research questions were addressed in this study:

- What are the characteristics and duties of technology coordinators in the state of Mississippi?
- 2. What are the training needs of technology coordinators in the state of Mississippi?
- 3. Is there a relationship between the types of training technology coordinators find most necessary and whether or not coordinators have technical, administrative, or education experience?
- 4. Is there a relationship between job responsibilities and training needs of Mississippi technology coordinators?

Justification of the Study

Although many studies have focused on the barriers to successful technology implementation (Hokanson, Hooper, & Association for Educational Technology, 2004), many schools have not realized the level of technology integration that could be possible (Becker, 2007; Doughty, 2007). McLeod (2003) concluded that effective support from technology coordinators is a predicator of the success of technology implementation. Research conducted in a number of states indicated that technology coordinators can be responsible for a number of different tasks (Collins & Dewees, 2001; Cox-Cruey, 1998; Lesisko, 2004; McLeod, 2003; Wagner 2004). In a study conducted by Wagner, participants developed and implemented professional development courses, grant writing, and created technology plans. However, studies by Cox-Cruey and Lesisko suggested that technical skills such as troubleshooting and maintaining hardware, software, and networks are an important part of the technology coordinator's job.

According to Lewis (2005), superintendents struggle to identify and retain competent technology coordinators to handle technical, instructional, and administrative challenges. Therefore, the results of this study could be used to identify the necessary qualifications for hiring future technology coordinators in the state of Mississippi.

Wagner (2004) suggested that some technology coordinators begin in positions without job descriptions further complicating the actual expectations of the role. Other studies indicated that the position differs greatly from district to district within a state (Lesisko, 2004). According to Lewis (2005) technology coordinator positions lack identity within the organizational structure of school districts. This often allows technology coordinators to define the role for themselves and adds the risk of not living up to expectations of decision makers in positions of authority. This study could provide information that would better define the role of technology coordinator for Mississippi school districts. Redefining and reevaluating the role of technology support should be an ongoing process (Beattie, 2000). Knowledge of the duties and responsibilities of technology coordinators can be critical for the development of appropriate training.

Limitations

In this study, surveys were emailed to technology coordinators listed on the Mississippi Department of Education's website. However, the list of technology coordinators may not have included all the current technology coordinators working in the state of Mississippi at the time of the study. Therefore, findings in this study cannot be generalized to other groups beyond the population identified. An online survey tool known as Survey Monkey was used for this research. Survey Monkey allows participants to permanently opt out of all surveys provided by the system. The effect of this policy provided a limitation for this research. Participants who had previously opted out of surveys were not given the opportunity to participate in this research. Their emails would be bounced back to the sender without a notification to the potential participant.

Definition of Terms

The following definitions were used in this study:

<u>Administrative Experience</u> – includes experience in a position other than classroom teaching; for instance, curriculum coordinator, superintendents, principals, or managerial experience outside of education.

<u>Administrative Training</u> – Training to help technology coordinators prepare technology grants, create technology plans and complete other administrative paperwork.

<u>Characteristics</u> – includes background information such as degrees, years of experience, gender, age, and certifications.

<u>Duties</u> – actual daily or routine tasks performed by the technology coordinator.

Educational experience – is defined as classroom teaching experience.

<u>Educational research training</u> – Training to help technology coordinators research best practices and current theories in integrating technology into curriculum and other education related research.

<u>Job Responsibility</u> – defined as current duties or tasks required by technology coordinators.

<u>Technical experience</u> – includes experience installing hardware or software, troubleshooting hardware or software issues, and working with networks.

<u>Technical Training</u> – Training to enhance technical skills such troubleshooting hardware and software related problems, installation of software, and other technical knowledge.

<u>Technology Coordinator</u> – educator at the district level that facilitates the effective use of computer related information technology in instruction (Moursund, 1992)

<u>Training</u> – learning that is provided in order to improve performance on the job (Nadler, 1984).

<u>Training needs</u> – as defined by BNET Business Directory is a shortage of skills or abilities which could be reduced or eliminated by means of training and development (CBS Interactive).

<u>Type of Training</u> – For the purposes of this study, type of training, training was categorized into three groups; administrative, technical and educational research.

CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE

The technology coordinator position was once considered a new role in K-12 schools and districts (Frazier, 2003). However, this role has been in a state of flux for a number of years (Lewis, 2005). There have been attempts to define the role through descriptive accounts and studies that evaluated job qualifications. Researchers have evaluated the characteristics, duties, and skill levels of district level technology coordinators in their states (Cox-Cruey, 1998; Lesisko, 2004; Platte, 1997; Tomasso, 2003; Wagner, 2004). Individual states have also attempted to standardize the role of the technology coordinator. This chapter examines the literature on the role that technology coordinators can play in integrating technology into the curriculum, the relevant theory on assessing training needs, and the characteristics and duties of technology coordinators.

Integrating Technology into the Curriculum

The goal of integrating technology into the curriculum is to improve student achievement (Becker, 2007). This goal requires a certain level of expertise from administrators and educators. After technology became more prevalent in the 1990s, companies began offering games, educational software, and other technology related items providing a multitude of offerings for educators to consider (Staples, et al., 2005). The use of technology in classrooms did increase. According to Silverstein et al. (2000), the majority of principals in their survey did not feel that teachers were using technology in schools to develop alternative assessments, create electronic portfolios, or to correspond with parents. High poverty schools were less likely to engage in the use of technology. Case study findings suggest a number of effective strategies for influencing the use of learning technologies in the classroom. One suggestion was consistent access to a knowledgeable and skilled technology coordinator. Inadequate support of teachers and other technology users can contribute to the failure of school technology initiatives (McLeod, 2003). Many administrators now understand that realizing better technology use in K-12 schools requires adequate funding of technology coordinators (Hawkes & Brockmueller, 2003). According to Hawkes and Brockmueller, the technology coordinator identifies the training needs for school staff and can be responsible for the programs developed and expertise required if a more systematic approach for technology professional development is needed.

According to Lesisko (2004), integrating technology into the classroom can be a long process if not properly implemented. The problem of coordinating services and equipment has become more prominent as school districts continue to integrate technology into instructional and administrative functions. Initially, administrators placed an emphasis on introducing technology into schools (Hofer, Chamberlin, & Scot, 2004). For some administrators, the advantages of technology integration were clear. Technology could become a key component in solving problems of unemployment in the local community by improving students' skills before they graduated (McGrath & Sands, 2004).

Many teachers are ready to learn about technology integration. However, technology coordinators must have a plan and an understanding of district expectations in order to facilitate curriculum integration. Ertmer (2005) noted that 53% of teachers surveyed reported feeling somewhat prepared to use technology in the classroom, while 80% expressed an interest in learning how to integrate computer technology into the curricula. Hinson, Laprairie, and Cundiff (2005) indicated traditional classroom practices are quickly becoming obsolete with the ever changing technological age. The authors proposed many educators are still uncomfortable and unequipped to integrate technology into the curriculum. Shifting from traditional teaching toward approaches that encourage technology integration is a complex new task for many teachers who need to develop new knowledge (ChanLin, 2005; Fuller, 2000). School leaders may lack an understanding of innovative technologies (Dikkers, Hughes, & McLeod, 2005). However, according to ChanLin (2005), technical and administrative support is a critical consideration in integrating technology into curriculum.

As part of the planning for long-term development to encourage change, schools are encouraged to consult faculty members, professional organizations, and their district technology coordinators for input. Hinson, et al. (2005) concluded that teachers must have opportunities to acquire skills and apply them as part of a cohesive improvement plan, instead of disconnected workshops. MacDonald and Caverly (2006) also recognized that although many developmental educators were using word processing to produce documents, few had advanced to the ability to use word processing for innovative processes. The authors used a continuum of technology integration that included the incremental phases of adoptions, adaptation, appropriation, and innovation to frame their assessment of teachers and their technology use. The adoption phase suggested that teachers are using the technology to support traditional instruction. In the adaptation phase, teachers use technology to enhance education. During the appropriation phase, technology changes practice. Finally, during the innovation phase, educators begin using technology to create new practice.

Educators can use technology in a number of ways to increase the efficiency of the learning process. According to King-Sears and Evmenova (2007), the significance of technology use comes not from simply having access to computers and software, but also from using that technology appropriately to support and stimulate learning. Integration should stimulate student interest as well as enhance critical thinking skills. Teachers who attempt to incorporate the use of a new teaching tool as well as a new teaching philosophy can experience uncertainty when they lack the skills to apply new technology appropriately (ChanLin, 2007). Although there are a number of factors that affect the level of technology integration among teachers, one factor described as indispensable for technology integration was administrative support.

Younger teachers entering the workforce are often expected to display a greater level of technological savvy because of their perceived comfort level with modern technology. Becker (2007) examined whether the experiential differences between novice and veteran teachers, with respect to technology, influenced how they integrated technology into the curriculum. Novice teachers were more likely to have computers at home and school. This group was also more likely to have both formal and informal technology instruction during their earlier learning experiences. Becker discovered that while novice teachers rated themselves more proficient in technical skills than more experienced teachers, both groups suggested a comparable amount of pedagogical skills. Both the novice group and the veteran group of teachers in the study indicated infrequent use of technology with their students. After interviewing subjects, the researcher concluded teachers may lack an understanding of how to use their technical skills appropriately to integrate technology into the curriculum. Time and training were mentioned as barriers to technology integration.

Doughty (2007) conducted a qualitative study to attempt to understand technology integration at an urban school. The researcher spent three years volunteering in an after school computer club assisting teachers and students. According to Doughty, technology integration includes three prerequisites: the instructional design process necessary to produce an innovation; a technology adoption process to help teachers implement that innovation; and the removal of barriers that hinder technology integration. The study found that teachers often lacked sufficient computers, software, planning time, and technical support.

Assessing Training Needs and Discovering Characteristics

Industry has long recognized the need to shift views about training from a separate, stand-alone occurrence to a more integrated, strategic approach. Conducting a training needs analysis is one of the most important steps in developing effective training

programs (Salas & Cannon-Bowers, 2001). According to the authors, there are three primary components: (a) organizational analysis, (b) job/task analysis, and (c) person analysis. This process of needs analysis is necessary to determine what knowledge and/or skills should receive focus.

According to Salas and Cannon-Bowers (2001), organizational analysis identifies the system wide components of the organization. Analyzing the organization can highlight areas of agreement between training objectives and organizational goals, available resources, constraints and support. Previous studies identified by Salas and Cannon-Bowers indicated that organizational climate and culture were powerful predictors of whether trainees transferred the learned skills and post training behavior. Therefore, conducting an organizational analysis is crucial for ensuring the success of an effective training program.

Job/task analysis is another important aspect of a training needs analysis. A job/task analysis can be used to discover learning objectives (Salas & Cannon-Bowers, 2001). This analysis delivers a detailed description of work functions, information about the work environment, and the knowledge, skills, and attitudes necessary for performing the tasks.

Understanding individual and personal characteristics are also critical for creating professional development opportunities. Salas and Cannon-Bowers (2001) concluded from their research that general intelligence is good as it promotes performance and selfefficacy. Intelligence also helps with skill acquisition. According to the authors, although cognitive ability is a reasonable predictor of training performance, it is not a guaranteed indicator of performance on the job.

Districts place many demands on their technology coordinators. Therefore, welldesigned training opportunities are very important for technology coordinators. McLeod (2003) noted that urban technology coordinators received more hours of professional support than either rural or suburban coordinators. In his study, participants surveyed reported an average of less than a week's worth of professional development and training in the past year. One in six participants reported less than a day of professional development. Of the technology coordinators surveyed, 40% indicated professional development opportunities in their school district were inadequate. One-fifth of the respondents in the McLeod study believed that their training and background were inappropriate for their job responsibilities. Individuals in the coordinator position are often former teachers with a number of self-taught skills who have had very limited exposure to training opportunities (Hawkes & Brockmueller, 2003).

Organizational Analysis

Role ambiguity surrounding the position of technology coordinators has been a problem historically. Several researchers suggested that technology coordinators are employed in positions on a full time or part time basis (Brown, 1998; Cox-Cruey, 1998; Kohler, 1995; McLeod, 2003). A study completed by Kohler (1995) found conflicting perceptions between administrators and technology coordinators about the position expectations. The requirements and responsibilities for technology coordinators often differ between states. Cox-Cruey (1998) indicated that one-third of school districts surveyed in Kentucky relied solely on the district technology coordinator for support. Half of those surveyed by Cox-Cruey held the position of district technology coordinator exclusively while other participants were responsible for a variety of other jobs within the district such as Title I Coordinator, Food Service Coordinator and Director of Pupil Personnel. Of the participants involved in the study by Cox-Cruey, 85% indicated that their positions were administrative. Levinson and Surratt (1999) suggested that well organized districts were possible with technology coordinators assuming an authoritative position within the district equivalent to an Assistant Superintendent.

Contractual periods for technology coordinators can vary according to Tomasso (2003). Participant contracts included 9-month, 10-month, 11-month, and 12-month contracts. Some technology coordinators have been responsible for coordinating the activities of support staff, while others provide both administrative and sole technical support for a district (McLeod, 2003; Wagner, 2004). The variety of contract lengths, according to McLeod (2003) indicated a mismatch between technology coordinator duties and the type of contract they had. Three-fourths of the McLeod respondents were on an 11 or 12-month contract and almost all were district level as opposed to school level employees. McLeod noted that technology contracts did not always accurately reflect the level of responsibility. Nearly a third of the McLeod participants were more likely to be in rural districts. Smaller districts were more likely to have one person providing technology support. One-fourth (27.1%) of the McLeod survey participants

indicted they had a different primary job title such as teacher, principal, or superintendent.

In Pennsylvania, the department of education requires technology coordinators to be certified (Lesisko, 2004). The position of the Director of Instructional Technology in Pennsylvania requires the Instructional Technology Specialist Certificate in addition to training, experience, education, or other skills required by the district. Wagner (2004) in an Ohio study indicated that the needs of schools and the individual technology coordinator often shape the position at a district. Five of the nine participants in the Wagner study were on administrative contracts while the remainders were on teacher contracts. When given an opportunity to state whether their position was primarily administrative, technical, or instructional, five respondents indicated technical, while the others suggested administrative. Although no participant responded that their position was primarily instructional, all participants included comments that suggested that all three components were among their responsibilities.

Other states have also attempted to standardize the role of technology coordinator (Lewis, 2005). For example, the Illinois Board of Education created the *Technology Specialist Content-Area Standards* document in an effort to standardize the role in Illinois school districts and make the expectations of technology coordinators and administrators more uniform. The state identified 12 performance and knowledge standards necessary in the role of a successful technology coordinator.

Job/Task Analysis

Hawkes and Brockmueller (2003) recognized that many technology coordinators were teachers who also possessed a number of self taught computer skills. Technology coordinators need a solid base of skills including technical, leadership, and communication related skills to perform their duties. McLeod (2003) suggested that role confusion and overlap was probably a contributing factor to the ineffective implementation of technology in school districts. The technical aspect of the technology coordinators role is often varied. Many of the study's participants spent an average of 64% of their time providing technology support. Some of the coordinators involved in McLeod's survey indicated that they spent 100% of the time on technology support, administration, and training. The technology coordinator position also has certain administrative elements. Of McLeod participants, 70% spent their time with duties unrelated to technology support. Wagner (2004) indicated a number of responsibilities according to respondents. In addition to simply installing and maintaining computers, Wagner participants developed and provided development opportunities, wrote grants, secured funds, worked with E-rate, and managed the technology budget. Wagner participants were also responsible for developing and implementing the technology plan, as well as working with vendors. Participants mentioned the potential to work long hours and weekends as well as weekdays.

According to Wagner (2004), some technology coordinators begin in positions without job descriptions complicating the actual expectations of the role. Technology coordinator responsibilities can include providing instructional support and technical support. Lesisko (2004) suggested that the larger the student population, the more likely that the Technology Coordinator would devote their time to managing the technology for their district and these individuals would be less likely to spend time working with curriculum, federal programs, grant writing, professional development or other tasks. When asked to rank responsibilities. Participants in the Lesisko study indicated that their responsibilities included in order of importance: (a) hardware installation and troubleshooting, (b) administrative paperwork, (c) managing the district network, and (d) software installation and troubleshooting.

The variety of positions is also evident in the job titles of these professionals in the literature (Cox-Cruey; 1998; Hofer, et al., 2004; Lesisko, 2004; McLeod, 2003; Platte, 1997; Wagner, 2004). Wagner (2004) indicated that of the nine participants in the study, only three used Technology Coordinator as their title. The other titles included Systems Administrator, District Technology Coordinator, Information Technology Teacher, Director of District Technology, Director of Instructional Technology, and Director of Technology. Lesisko's (2004) participants provided 45 different job titles out of 87 survey returns. Job titles included Computer Engineer, Director of Federal Programs and Technology, and Direction of Instructional and Administrative Technology.

There is some agreement by researchers about the lackluster acceptance of technology coordinators to appreciate research and theory (Lewis, 2005; Platte, 1997). In Lewis' (2005) study, superintendents and technology coordinators agreed that research and theory was one of the least important indicators for technology coordinators.

McLeod (2003) indicated an average annual salary of \$56,251 among survey respondents. Salaries of respondents ranged from \$8,000 to \$116,000 per year. Urban school district salaries were significantly higher than rural district salaries. The average salaries of district technology coordinators in the survey were significantly lower than business and industry leaders with similar duties.

Traits of Effective Technology Coordinators

Wagner (2004) indicated six identifiable traits that emerge from the literature that enable coordinators to succeed. These traits included (a) organization and time management, (b) leadership, (c) becoming a change agent, (d) being a facilitator of professional development, (e) maintaining personal professional development, and (f) developing both interpersonal and technical skills. In order to succeed at their responsibilities, technology coordinators must have a combination of talents and skills in technology and education (Lesisko, 2004). Lesisko envisioned an individual with the ability to inspire apprehensive technology users and find ways to assist comfortable technology users.

Individual/Person Analysis

Knowledge about the individuals in technology coordinator positions is minimal, although research indicates the importance of their role in effective technology implementation (McLeod, 2003). The characteristics and responsibilities of technology coordinator positions can vary greatly between states, as well as between districts within a state (Lesisko, 2004; Tomasso, 2003; Wagner, 2004). This is partly because districts can vary according to size, needs, and resources. These differences make interpreting professional development needs problematic (Cox-Cruey, 1998). Hoffman (1996) suggested that a strong technology coordinator could lead to greater use of computers and the implementation of software that promote higher order thinking. Because of the importance of the technology coordinator's position, it is important to investigate the educational background and experience of technology coordinators (Platte, 1997).

Educational Background

The importance of securing highly trained professional educators who are able to provide technology leadership is evident in the literature (Hoffman, 1996; Platte, 1997; Ritchie, 1996). The level of education attained by technology coordinators in states vary greatly with some technology coordinators possessing high school diplomas while other coordinators hold master's degree or higher (McLeod, 2003). Platte (1997) indicated that out of 85 technology coordinators surveyed 45% held BA degrees, 40% held MA degrees, and 6% held doctoral degrees; 18% held a degree in a field relating to computers. Cox-Cruey (1998) reported a variance in the educational level of respondents. For instance, 31% held masters degrees, 17% had obtained specialist degrees, and 5% held doctorate degrees. However, 8% reported having a bachelor's degree and 2% reported they did not possess a degree. The Cox-Cruey study also contained an "Other" category that was reported as respondents that possessed a Master's degree plus additional college credits for a Rank I. Of the respondents, 33% selected this option and 3% chose not to answer the survey item. An analysis of the other degrees held by Kentucky technology coordinators indicated that some participants held Master's degrees plus additional college credit.

Lesisko (1998) found that participants he surveyed had an average of 17.26 years of education. Of the Lesisko respondents, 49% indicated they held a master's degree, while 28.7% had a bachelor's degree. Of the master's degree holders, 74.4% had technical degrees in a management or a technology related field. At the bachelor's degree level, 60% had a computer science or technology related degree. Of Platte's (1997) participants, 69% attributed most of their skills to education and experience and none to formal education.

Experience and Certification Levels

Tomasso (2003) suggested that coordinators often worked in technology related jobs before becoming technology coordinators. Nearly three-fourths of McLeod (2003) participants indicated that their background was in education. Wagner (2004) found that two of the nine participants in his study had previously taught at the elementary level and four others had taught at the secondary level. The remaining participants had taught a variety of junior high and high school courses including some computer related courses. Participants in Wagner's study were Ohio SchoolNet 2004 Technology Coordinator of the Year Finalists. Participants in the study had worked as technology coordinators from 1 to 10 years with an average of 5.2 years experience as a technology coordinator. Participants in the Lesisko (2004) study had an average of 5.71 years of experience as technology coordinator and over 14 years education work experience. The McLeod (2003) study participants also indicated approximately five years experience (5.3) as technology coordinators.

Although all of the Wagner (2004) participants were former educators, their paths to becoming technology coordinator were varied. One participant was an elementary principal, but as the only administrator within the district with computer knowledge, he became the technology coordinator. Another of the Wagner participants was an information technology teacher and this later provided the entryway to the position of technology coordinator. The study also included an individual with a Master's degree in Public Administration who had also worked as an administrator for a nonprofit organization. Many participants (21%) in the McLeod (2003) study had never been classroom teachers.

Lesisko (2004) noted that a number of technology coordinators hold professional certifications from technology related vendors. Half (50%) of Lesisko study participants had Microsoft certification, 30% held a Novell credential, and 17.2% had a certification from CompTIA in either networking or hardware/software. Finally, 3% held Cisco certification and many held multiple certifications. Over 80% of Lesisko respondents held a Pennsylvania Professional Teaching Certificate. Out of the remaining participants who did not hold a teaching certificate, 57.1% held a nationally recognized vendor credential.

22

Summary

Inadequate support of teachers and other technology users can contribute to the failure of school technology initiatives (McLeod, 2003). Many administrators now understand that realizing better technology use in K-12 schools requires adequate funding of technology coordinators (Hawkes & Brockmueller, 2003). Many teachers are ready to learn about technology integration. However, school leaders may lack an understanding of how to use innovative technologies (Dikkers et. al., 2005).

Districts place many demands on their technology coordinators. Role ambiguity has plagued the position of technology coordinators historically. The requirements and responsibilities for technology coordinators often differ between states. Technology coordinators need a solid base of skills including technical, leadership, and communication related skills to perform their duties. These individuals must have a balance of education in technology and education (Lesisko, 2004).

Knowledge about the individuals in technology coordinator positions is minimal, although research indicates the importance of their role in effective technology implementation (McLeod, 2003). Because of the importance of the technology coordinator's position, it is important to investigate the educational background and experience of technology coordinators (Platte, 1997).

CHAPTER III

METHODOLOGY

This study examined the characteristics, duties, and training needs of technology coordinators in the state of Mississippi. This chapter describes the methodology and procedures that will be used to conduct this study. The chapter includes the following sections: research design, instrumentation, variables of the study, population, procedures, data collection and data analysis.

Research Design

This study used a cross-sectional, survey research design. The study was crosssectional because the researcher collected data at only one point in time. Song (2004) indicated that a cross-sectional survey design was well suited to obtain a description of existing characteristics in participants. It was also low cost and quick while enabling the researcher to gain data during a short course of time. For the Song research, data were collected at one point in time from a predetermined population with the intent of describing characteristics that existed at the time of the survey.

The researcher used a survey instrument to collect demographic data such as age, gender, years of experience, and educational level as well as the type of duties and

responsibilities expected of technology coordinators. Surveys were considered a good choice for gathering data because of their efficiency, their ability to provide standardized data that can be used for statistical analysis (Babbie, 1990; Nardi, 2003).

Survey research can be used for a number of purposes: description, explanation, and exploration (Babbie, 1990). Researchers use surveys to make descriptive assertions about a population or to discover the characteristics of a population. In that case, the researcher is not attempting to explain why a certain distribution exists, but rather what the distribution is. In addition to describing the population, researchers may also want to make explanatory assertions about the population. To make explanatory assertions, the researcher often needs to examine two or more variables or perform analysis. Survey methods also offer the researcher a mechanism for exploration or inquiry.

This research also had a correlational component. According to Wright (2007), correlational methods can be used to consider existing characteristics as well as explore correlations between two or more phenomena. For this research, data gathered from the survey were used to assess whether relationships exist between the characteristics of technology coordinators such as years of experience, educational levels, and types of duties, and the coordinators' perceived need for additional training.

A number of threats to internal validity were inherent in this study. The participant pool involved in the study was rather small. Participants who failed to complete the survey may have limited the generalizability of the study. The reduced number of participants could introduce bias (Fraenkel & Wallen, 2003). The problem with bias occurs if participants who did not turn in their survey differ in some way from people that did return surveys. Respondents may also have changed their behavior based on their participation in the survey or either intentionally or unintentionally misrepresented their behavior (Voogt & Van Kempen, 2002).

The original instrument that was modified for use in this study was used by Lesisko (2004) (see Appendix A). The researcher did contact Lesisko (see Appendix B) for permission to modify the survey document and permission was granted (see Appendix C). At the time of the Lesisko study, the instrument was piloted to gauge its content validity. However, the instrument was modified for use in this study and piloted again to confirm validity.

Instrumentation

The instrument used in this study was initially used by Lesisko (2004) and was modified for the purposes of this research. It includes both open-ended and closed-ended questions, as well as a Likert scale. The use of open-ended questions requires that data collected must be interpreted consistently and coded prior to data entry (Babbie 1990; Nardi, 2003). Open-ended questions are a good way to discover what respondents think, but the responses require content analysis. Closed-ended questions are popular in survey research, but not without some shortcomings (Babbie, 1990). Closed-ended questions may overlook important data because of the way the questions are structured.

The questionnaire should emerge based on the purpose of the research or whether the researcher wants to describe, explain, explore, or predict (Babbie, 1990). One of the goals of this research was to seek to describe, explain, and explore the characteristics involved. The research was used to understand the respondent's feelings (attitudes) about training needs, what technology coordinators actually do (behaviors), and who they are (demographics).

The instrument used in this study was divided into three sections: Part I contained demographic or background questions such as age or gender. Part II included district and job-related information such as questions dealing with job responsibility, and Part III contained questions related to training needs. Permission to use and modify the District Level Technology Coordinator Survey instrument was requested (see Appendix B) and obtained (see Appendix C) from Lesisko.

Validity and Reliability

An instrument is valid if researchers can use it to measure the construct it was designed to measure (Fraenkel & Wallen, 2003). To evaluate whether or not the instrument had face and content validity, the researcher asked a jury of experts to examine the questionnaire. This allowed the researcher to obtain feedback on whether the instrument was capturing the complexity of the concepts or variables.

Lesisko (2004) piloted the original instrument to a small group of people in a controlled environment to determine if the items in the survey were clear and easy to understand. Content experts were asked to complete and evaluate the survey for content and readability as well as consistency. This process would have established content validity. Lesisko did not indicate any other steps that may have been taken to establish reliability or validity.

Pilot Study

After approval had been obtained from the Institutional Review Board for the Protection of Human Subjects in Research (IRB) at Mississippi State University (see Appendix D), a pilot study was conducted using the District Technology Coordinator Survey instrument. Participants for the pilot study included seven current technology coordinators. The purpose of the pilot study was to assess validity, test the delivery method for the instrument, and to assess the proposed data analysis technique. Questions deemed ambiguous were refined based on pilot participants' recommendations. In addition, participants were asked for feedback on the layout and content of the survey instrument. The only change made to the survey based on feedback was the addition of the term "more" in the education section. This change permitted participants to display additional credit hours earned beyond a degree.

Variables of the Study

The variables of interest in this study included the following: (a) demographic data, (b) education related, (c) amount of related job experience, (d) training information, (e) type of job experiences, and (f) job responsibilities.

Population

The population of this study was technology coordinators in Mississippi School Districts. The Mississippi Department of Education maintains a site listing of technology coordinators within the state. The researcher used a list of 145 technology coordinators as potential participants. From the initial 145 potential participants, seven were asked to participate in a pilot study.

Procedures

After an application was approved by the Mississippi State University IRB, the names and email addresses of 145 Mississippi Technology Coordinators were obtained from the Mississippi Department of Education Directory. Pilot participants were sent a packet containing a letter of request, a copy of the survey, and a comment form. Minor changes were made to the survey instrument based on their recommendations.

After the pilot process, the remaining technology coordinators were sent an email (see Appendix E) that described the survey (see Appendix F) and asked for their voluntary participation. The email contained a confidentiality section and explained how the participant's identifying information was not included when the survey is submitted. The email served the function of a cover letter and asked participants to click the survey link only if they consented to participating. The email also included a link that allowed the participant to opt-out of participating at that point.

Participants who did not submit the survey and who did not click the opt out link were sent a second email (see Appendix G), one week later. The second email was sent in case the participant intended to participate and accidentally deleted their email, forgot to follow through with the survey, or had other technical issues. Participants who clicked the opt-out link received no further emails.

Data Analysis

The survey research design allowed the researcher to measure a variety of variables. There are four levels of measurement that are associated with variables: nominal, ordinal, interval, and ratio. Nominal or categorical measurements distinguish one category from another, such as male and female. Numbers can also be used to identify the different categories, but they do not indicate magnitude. There is no intrinsic ordering for the categories (Nardi, 2003). Ordinal measurements imply a rank or order among different categories of a variable.

Ordinal measurements can also be indicated by numbers on a scale, however the different numbers on the scale could not be considered to have equal distance between them. Interval measurements are similar to ordinal; however the numbers involved can express equal distances between values. Ratio and interval measurements share the same characteristics, but ratio measurements have a true zero. The level of measurement is an important consideration in determining the type of analysis required (Nardi, 2003).

Data were entered into SPSS version 14.0 for Windows. Descriptive statistics was conducted on demographic data. Descriptive statistics analyzed included frequency and percentages for nominal (categorical/dichotomous) data and means/standard deviations for continuous (interval/ratio) data. Standard deviation measures statistical dispersion, or the spread of values in a data set. If the data points are all close to the mean, then the standard deviation is close to zero. To answer research question 1, "What are the characteristics and duties of technology coordinators in the state of Mississippi?" the researcher used descriptive statistical analysis utilizing frequencies and percentages to analyze survey items 1-26.

To answer research question 2, "What are the training needs of technology coordinators in the state of Mississippi?" the researcher used descriptive statistical analysis utilizing frequencies, percentages, means, and standard deviations to analyze survey items 26-29 on the Technology Coordinator Survey.

To answer research question 3, "Is there a relationship between the type of training technology coordinators find most necessary and whether or not coordinators have technical, administrative, or education experience" the researcher used a Pearson chi-square to examine the relationship between categorical survey items 4, 12, 18, and survey item 28 on the Technology Coordinator Survey.

To answer research question 4, "Is there a relationship between job responsibility and training needs of Mississippi technology coordinators?" the researcher used a Pearson chi-square to examine the relationship between categorical survey items 26 and 28.

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

The technology coordinator provides a critical role in a school district's technology support system (McLeod, 2003). Technology coordinators often offer technical, administrative, and instructional support (Lewis, 2005; Wagner, 2004). According to several researchers, teacher access to knowledgeable and skilled technology coordinators positively influences their use of teaching strategies in the classroom (Silverstein, Frechtling, & Miyaoka, 2000). Although the importance of the technology coordinators role has been well established, there is little information known about the individuals in these positions (McLeod, 2003).

The purpose of this study was to examine the characteristics, duties, and training needs of technology coordinators in the state of Mississippi. The following research questions guided this study:

- What are the characteristics and duties of technology coordinators in the state of Mississippi?
- 2. What are the training needs of technology coordinators in the state of Mississippi?

- 3. Is there a relationship between the type of training technology coordinators find most necessary and whether or not coordinators have technical, administrative, or education experience?
- 4. Is there a relationship between job responsibility and training needs of Mississippi technology coordinators?

This study used a cross-sectional, survey research design. The survey instrument, "Technology Coordinator Survey" was used to answer the research questions posed in this study. A pilot study was conducted to assess the validity of the questions in the survey.

Data were collected from 55 technology coordinators from a population of 138. The original number of 145 was reduced because 7 technology coordinators were used for pilot study participation. The survey instrument was sent to technology coordinators twice. This chapter provides the results of the survey and an analysis of data.

Demographic and Response Data

This section provides a description of the demographics of the technology coordinators surveyed. The population in this survey consisted of 138 technology coordinators. Out of the 138 emails, 4 potential participants had previously opted out of Survey Monkey surveys and did not receive an email. Eight emails were bounced backed to the researcher and 55 participants responded for a response rate of 43.6%. Low response rates have often been considered a problem with researchers. However, low response rates do not introduce non-response error (Socha, 2010). Section I of the survey instrument contained demographic data and is described in the next section.

Age of Respondents

The breakdowns of respondent's age are provided in Table 1. The age distributions (N=55) revealed that of the 55 technology coordinators who participated in the research study, 36 were male and 19 were female. The age range of the participants was 21 to over 65 years. One participant did not provide an age.

Table 1

Technology Coordinator Age Distribution

Age	Frequency	Percentage
21-25	1	2.7%
26-35	9	16.2%
36-45	12	21.6%
46-55	18	32.4%
56-65	13	24.3%
Over 65	1	2.7%

Gender of Respondents

The majority of respondents were male (64.9%). The table below identified as Table 2 provides the summarized data for this demographic.

Technology Coordinator Gender Distribution

Gender	Frequency	Percentage
Male	36	64.9%
Female	19	35.1%

Ethnic Background of Respondents

The majority of respondents to the survey were White (78.4%). The table below identified as Table 3 provides the summarized data for this demographic. One respondent neglected to indicate ethnicity.

Table 3

Technology Coordinator Ethnicity Distribution

Ethnicity	Frequency	Percentage
American Indian or Alaska	1	2.7%
Asian	0	0.0%
Black or African American	10	18.9%
Hispanic or Latino	0	0.0%
Native Hawaiian or other	0	0.0%
Pacific Islander		
White	43	78.4%

Research Question Analysis

Research Question 1

To answer research question 1, "What are the characteristics and duties of

technology coordinators in the state of Mississippi?" the researcher used descriptive

statistical analysis utilizing frequencies, and percentages. Several characteristics are listed

under the demographic data section of this chapter and will be summarized briefly in the next section.

Characteristics of Technology Coordinators

Few technology coordinators who responded were under the age of 25 or over 65. The majority of respondents (94.5%) ranged in age from 26 - 65 and 58% were over the age of 45. The majority of these respondents who completed the survey were male (64.9%) and white (78.4%), and 18% were black or African American and 2.7% indicated either American Indian or Alaskan.

This survey was designed to investigate other technology coordinator characteristics including whether or not coordinators were licensed educators, their job experience, salary range, educational backgrounds, certifications obtained, and whether they were responsible for duties outside of their role as technology coordinators.

The majority (59.5%) of respondents to the survey reported that they possessed a valid teaching license. Table 4 provides the summarized data for this demographic.

Table	4
-------	---

Technology Coordinator Teaching License Distribution

Hold Valid Teaching	Frequency	Percentage
License		
Yes	33	59.5%
No	22	40.5%

The salaries of respondents varied greatly. No respondent earned less than \$30,000, and 27% earned greater than \$70,000 or more. The majority of respondents

(94.5%) earned greater than \$40,000 per year. Additional salary information is represented in Table 5.

Table 5

Salary Range	Frequency	Percentage
\$30,000 - \$39,999	3	5.4%
\$40,000 - \$49,999	12	21.6%
\$50,000 - \$59,999	15	27.0%
\$60,000 - \$69,999	10	18.9%
\$70,000 and over	15	27.0%

Technology Coordinator Salary Range

The majority of respondents in this study reported teaching experience. In fact, 62% had taught in a K-12 environment. The table identified as Table 6 provides the summarized data for the K-12 teaching experience of Technology Coordinators. According to the respondents, 30% had university teaching experience. Table 6 provides the summarized data for K-12 teaching experience.

Table 6

Technology Coordinator K-12 Teaching Experience

K-12 Experience	Frequency	Percentage
Yes	34	62.2%
No	21	37.8%

The table below identified as Table 7 provides the summarized data for the university teaching experience demographic.

University Experience	Frequency	Percentage
Yes	18	32.4%
No	37	67.6%

Technology Coordinator University Teaching Experience

In addition to examining whether participants had teaching experience, this study identified participants who had technical experience. The majority of respondents had technical experience (70.3%) and possessed technical licenses or credentials. Tables 8 and 9 represent whether technology coordinators possessed technical experience or information technology certifications.

Table 8

Technology Coordinator Technical Experience

Technical Experience	Frequency	Percentage
Yes	39	70.3%
No	16	29.7%

Table 9

Technology Coordinator IT Certification Obtained

IT Certifications	Frequency	Percentage
Yes	33	59.5%
No	22	40.5%

The primary technical licenses represented were as follows: Cisco Certified Network Associate (CCNA), CompTIA's A+ certification, CompTIA Network + certification, and Microsoft Certified Professional. The CCNA certification was held by 30% of participants, the CompTIA A+ certification was held by 40% of participants and the CompTIA Network Certification was held by 35%. A full breakdown of IT

certifications held by Technology Coordinators is shown in Table 10. Certifications

omitted from the table were not selected as being currently held by participants.

Table 10

IT Certifications	Frequency	Percentage
Cisco Certified Network	17	30.0%
Associate (CCNA)		
CompTIA's A+ certification	22	40.0%
CompTIA Network +	19	35.0%
Certification		
CompTIA Security+	6	10.0%
Certification		
Microsoft Certified	11	20.0%
Professional (MCP)		
Microsoft Certified Systems	3	5.0%
Engineer (MCSE)		
Microsoft Certified Trainer	3	5.0%
_(MCT)		

IT Certifications Currently Held by Technology Coordinators

The highest degree obtained by the technology coordinators was varied. Each participant was to choose only the highest degree they had obtained. The table identified as Table 11 provides the summarized data for this demographic.

Table 11

Degrees Obtained	Frequency	Percentage
Doctoral	7	12.7%
Educational Specialist	9	16.4%
degree or more		
Masters degree or more	19	34.5%
Bachelors degree or more	13	23.6%
Associates degree or more	7	12.7%

Technology Coordinator Degrees Obtained

Another characteristic examined by this researcher was whether or not

respondents had responsibilities other than that of the technology coordinator as their sole responsibility. The majority (54.1%) of respondents were not holding a district position in addition to the technology coordinator position. However, many technology coordinators were in another position including the following; assistant superintendent, vocational director, district test coordinator, fixed asset manager, curriculum director, principal, and teacher.

The table identified as Table 12 includes data regarding whether or not technology coordinators are serving in multiple roles.

Table 12

Technology Coordinators Holding More Than One Position

Multiple Positions	Frequency	Percentage
Yes	25	45.5%
No	30	54.5%

In addition to identifying the characteristics of technology coordinators in Mississippi, this research also examined the current duties of technology coordinators.

Duties of Technology Coordinators

Participants were given the opportunity to select their current duties from a preselected list of items. Participants could select as many duties as necessary. No item from the list provided was left unselected. Every participant listed purchasing technology resources, and completing administrative paperwork as part of their responsibilities. Other responsibilities frequently selected included the following: informing staff about

technology opportunities (94.6%), planning technology related professional development activities (91.9%), researching emerging technologies (89.2%), working one on one with classroom teachers (75.7%), installation and troubleshooting of hardware (70.3%) and software (75.7%), and working with school board members on technology projects (73.0%). The frequency of the additional duties that were done by technology coordinators are shown in Table 13.

Table 13

Technology Coordinator	Frequency	Percentage
Responsibilities		
working one-on-one with	42	75.7%
classroom teachers		
working with software	42	75.7%
installation and troubleshooting		
working with hardware	39	70.3%
installation and troubleshooting		
purchasing technology	55	100.0%
resources		
working with students	16	29.7%
handling subordinate personnel	37	67.6%
issues		
informing staff about	52	94.6%
technology opportunities		
researching emerging	49	89.2%
technologies		
working with school board	40	73.0%
members on technology projects		
completing administrative	55	100.0%
paperwork		
physically managing the district	37	67.6%
network system		
plan technology related	51	91.9%
professional development		
activities		

Technology Coordinator Duties

Participants were also given an option to include duties not listed by the researcher. A number of additional duties were provided by the respondents. Some of the additional duties provided include the following: managing e-rate, assessing the effectiveness of technology use, inventorying technology items, providing help desk and webmaster services, managing district fixed assets, and district wide telephone systems.

Research Question 2

To answer research question 2, "What are the training needs of technology coordinators in the state of Mississippi?" the researcher used descriptive statistical analysis utilizing frequencies and percentages to analyze survey items 26-29 on the Technology Coordinator Survey. First, the survey asked respondents directly whether or not they needed additional training. The majority of respondents (78.4%) stated that they did. The summarized data for this variable can be found in Table 14.

Table 14

Additional Training	Frequency	Percentage
Necessary		
Yes	43	78.4%
No	12	21.6%

Perception of Need for Additional Training

In addition to assessing whether or not participants needed training, the respondents were also given the opportunity to rank the type of training most necessary on a scale of 1 to 3, with 1 representing the type of training that would be most helpful and 3 representing the type of training that would be the least helpful. According to the

responses, 36% of participants reported administrative training would be the most helpful for them, while 33% stated that technical training would be the most helpful. As for the least helpful training, 46 % stated technical training would be the least helpful. Additional details from this demographic are provided in Table 15. Twelve participants responded that training would not be necessary for them; however, there was nothing to preclude those participants from responding to the question of which type of training would be beneficial.

Table	15	

Ranking	of Necessary	Type	of Training
---------	--------------	------	-------------

	1 (Most	Helpful)		2	3 (Least	Helpful)
Type of	Frequency	Percentage	Frequency	Percentage	Frequency	Percentage
Training						
Administrative	20	36.7%	24	43.3%	11	20.0%
Training (ex.						
Technology						
plan creation)						
Technical	18	33.3%	11	20.0%	26	46.7%
Training (ex.						
Hardware,						
software,						
networks)						
Educational	17	30.0%	20	36.7%	18	33.3%
Research						
Training (ex.						
Would include						
learning about						
emerging						
technologies)						

Respondents were also given the opportunity to share how often they attended training sessions. The majority of respondents (32.4%) to the survey reported attending

two or more technology coordinator related trainings per year. Some respondents also suggested that training was more sporadic or on an as needed basis. The number of respondents that indicated they had never received training was 24%. The next table identified as Table 16 provides the summarized data for this demographic.

Table 16

Frequency of Training

Training Frequency	Frequency	Percentage
Never	14	24.3%
Once per year	10	18.9%
At least twice a year	7	13.5%
More than twice a year	18	32.4%
Other	6	10.8%

To summarize the results for research question 2, more respondents suggested administrative training would be more helpful than either technical or educational research training, but not by a large percentage. The majority of respondents stated that additional training was necessary.

Research Question 3

To answer research question 3, "Is there a relationship between the types of training technology coordinators find most necessary and whether or not coordinators have technical, administrative, or education experience?" the researcher used a Pearson chi-square to examine the relationship between categorical survey items 4, 12, 18 and survey item 28 on the Technology Coordinator Survey.

The chi-square measures test the hypothesis that the row and column variables in a cross tabulation are independent. A low significance value (below 0.05) would indicate that a relationship may exist between two variables.

Relationship between Training and Possession of Educator License

A crosstabs analysis was completed based on whether a technology coordinator possessed a teaching license and which type of training they reported as most helpful (administrative, technical, or educational research). No statistical significance was identified. Table 17 provides the summarized data for this demographic.

Table 17

Chi-Square Test for Training and Possession of Educator License

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	1.881(a)	2	.390
Likelihood Ratio	1.896	2	.387
N of Valid Cases	55		

Relationship between Technical Experience and Type of Training

A crosstabs analysis was completed based on whether a technology coordinator had worked in a position which required technical expertise before they began working as a technology coordinator and which type of training they reported as most helpful (administrative, technical, or educational research). No statistical significance was identified. Table 18 provides the summarized data for this demographic.

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	.393(a)	2	.822
Likelihood Ratio	.389	2	.822
N of Valid Cases	55		

Chi-Square Test for Technical Experience and Type of Training

Relationship between IT Certifications and Type of Training

A crosstabs analysis was completed based on whether a technology coordinator IT certifications and which type of training they reported as most helpful (administrative, technical, or educational research). No statistical significance was identified. Table 19 provides the summarized data for this demographic.

Table 19

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	.399(a)	2	.819
Likelihood Ratio	.399	2	.819
N of Valid Cases	55		

Chi-Square Test for IT Certifications and Type of Training

In response to question 3, "Is there a relationship between the type of training technology coordinators find most necessary and whether or not coordinators have technical, administrative, or education experience?" Based on the data provided, there did not appear to be a relationship between the type of training technology coordinators find most necessary and whether or not they have technical, administrative, or educational experience.

Research Question 4

To answer research question 4, "Is there a relationship beween job responsibilities and training needs of Mississippi technology coordinators?" the researcher used a Pearson chi-square to examine the relationship between categorical survey items 26 and 27. Each individual job responsibility is listed next along with its corresponding Chi-Square test.

Participants were provided with a list of job responsibilities and asked to select those responsibilities that were a part of their personal duties. These responsibilities were later cross tabulated with whether or not the technology coordinators believed they needed additional training.

The majority of technology coordinators who worked one-on-one with classroom teachers did believe they needed additional training. Table 20 provides the cross tabulation of technology coordinators working one on one with classroom teachers and whether training is believed necessary.

Table 20

Cross Tabulation of Working with Classroom Teachers and Training Needed

			Training	Needed	
Working one	Yes	Count	Yes 35	No 7	Total 42
on one with classroom		Expected Count	32.8	9.2	42.0
teachers	No	Count	8	5	13
		Expected Count	10.2	2.8	13.0
Total		Count	43	12	55
		Expected Count	43.0	12.0	55.0

The relationship between working one-on-one with classroom teachers and the technology coordinator's perceived need for training was not significant through a Pearson chi-square test.

Table 21

Chi-Square Test for Working with Classroom Teachers and Training Needed

			Asymp. Sig.
	Value	df	(2-sided)
Pearson Chi- Square	2.764	1	.096
Likelihood Ratio N of Valid Cases	2.535 55	1	.111

Participants were also asked to select whether they worked with software installation and troubleshooting and hardware installation and troubleshooting. The majority of participants that were responsible for installing software also believed they needed additional training.

Responses for these responsibilities were also analyzed through a Pearson chisquare test and are presented in Tables 22 and Table 23.

			Training Needed		
			Yes	No	
Software	Yes	Count	33	9	42
Installation		Expected Count	32.8	9.2	42.0
	No	Count	10	3	13
		Expected Count	10.2	2.8	13.0
Total		Count	43	12	55
		Expected Count	43.0	12.0	55.0

Cross Tabulation for Installation of Software and Training Needed

The relationship between whether or not a technology coordinator believed they needed additional training and whether they were responsible for the installation of software and troubleshooting of software did not prove to be significant.

Table 23

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)
Pearson Chi- Square	.016	1	.900
Likelihood Ratio	.016	1	.900
Linear-by-Linear Association	.016	1	.901
N of Valid Cases	55		

Chi-Square Test for Installation of Software and Training Needed

A majority of participants who were responsible for the installation and troubleshooting of hardware stated that they believed they needed additional training as shown in Table 24.

			Training	Needed	
			Yes	No	
Hardware	Yes	Count	32	7	39
Installation		Expected Count	30.5	8.5	39.0
	No	Count	11	5	16
		Expected Count	12.5	3.5	16.0
Total		Count	43	12	55
		Expected Count	43.0	12.0	55.0

Cross Tabulation for Installation of Hardware and Training Needed

The relationship between whether or not a technology coordinator believed they needed additional training and whether they were responsible for the installation of hardware and troubleshooting of hardware did not prove to be significant. The findings for this variable are presented in Table 25.

Table 25

Chi-Square Test for Installation of Hardware and Training Needed

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)
Pearson Chi- Square	1.177	1	.278
Likelihood Ratio	1.123	1	.289
N of Valid Cases	55		

Each respondent stated that they were responsible for purchasing technology resources for the district. No statistical analysis was necessary because this variable was constant.

Participants were also given the opportunity to state whether or not they worked with students within their district as part of their responsibility and this variable was cross tabulated with whether or not technology coordinators believed they needed additional training. The findings for this analysis are in presented in Tables 26 and 27. A majority of participants stated that they did not work with students within their districts. However, these respondents still indicated that they believed they needed additional training.

Table 26

		Training Needed			
			Yes	No	Total
Working with	Yes	Count	14	2	16
Students		Expected Count	12.5	3.5	16.0
	No	Count	29	10	39
		Expected Count	30.5	8.5	39.0
Total		Count	43	12	55
		Expected Count	43.0	12.0	55.0

Cross Tabulation for Working with Students and Training Needed

The relationship between whether training was perceived as necessary and the

responsibility of working with students was not significant as revealed in Table 27.

Table 27

Chi-Square Test for Working with Students and Training Needed

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)
Pearson Chi- Square	1.149	1	.284
Likelihood Ratio	1.246	1	.264
N of Valid Cases	55		

The responsibilities of handling subordinate personnel issues and informing staff of technology opportunities were also cross tabulated with whether or not technology coordinators believed they needed additional training. A majority of participants responded that they did handle subordinate personnel issues and believed that they needed additional training. This finding is presented in Table 28.

Table 28

Cross Tabulation for Handling Subordinate Personnel Training Needed	Issues and
Training Needed	Total

			Training	Needed	Total
			Yes	No	
Handling	Yes	Count	28	9	37
Subordinate personnel		Expected Count	28.9	8.1	37.0
issues	No	Count	15	3	18
		Expected Count	14.1	3.9	18.0
Total		Count	43	12	55
		Expected Count	43.0	12.0	55.0

There was no significance indicated between handling subordinate personnel issues and technology coordinators believing they needed additional training. The chi-square test for this variable is presented in Table 29.

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2- sided)
Pearson Chi- Square	.416	1	.519
Likelihood Ratio N of Valid Cases	.431 55	1	.511

Chi-Square Test for Handling Subordinate Personnel issues and Training Needed

A majority of participants stated that they did inform their staff about technology opportunities and that they believed that they needed additional training. The cross tabulated data for this finding is presented in Table 30.

Table 30

		Training Needed				
			Yes	No	Total	
Informing	Yes	Count	41	11	52	
Staff		Expected Count	40.7	11.3	52.0	
	No	Count	2	1	3	
		Expected Count	2.3	.7	3.0	
Total		Count	43	12	55	
		Expected Count	43.0	12.0	55.0	

Cross Tabulation for Informing Staff and Training Needed

There was no significant relationship indicated between informing staff about technology opportunities and the perceived need for training by technology coordinators. The chi-square test for this variable is presented in Table 31.

Chi-Square Test for Informing Staff and Training Needed

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)
Pearson Chi- Square	.247(b)	1	.619
Likelihood Ratio	.224	1	.636
N of Valid Cases	55		

Participants were asked to select whether or not they were responsible for researching emerging technologies as a part of their job duties. A majority of technology coordinators surveyed stated that this was one of their duties. However, they also stated that they believed that training was necessary. This finding is presented in Table 32.

Table 32

			Training	, Needed	Total
			Yes	No	
Researching Emerging Technologies	Yes	Count	38	11	49
		Expected Count	38.3	10.7	49.0
	No	Count	5	1	6
		Expected Count	4.7	1.3	6.0
Total		Count	43	12	55
		Expected Count	43.0	12.0	55.0

Cross Tabulation for Researching Emerging Technologies and Training Needed

There was no significant relationship between researching emerging technologies and whether participants decided training was needed. The details of this particular finding are presented in Table 33.

Table 33

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)
Pearson Chi- Square	.105	1	.746
Likelihood Ratio	.111	1	.739
N of Valid Cases	55		

Chi-Square Test for Researching Emerging Technologies and Training Needed

A cross tabulation was prepared for technology coordinators who were responsible for working with school board members on technology projects and whether or not additional training was perceived as necessary. A majority of technology coordinators did work with school board members and also believed that training was necessary. Data are presented in Table 34.

		Training Needed			
			Yes	No	Total
Working	Yes	Count	31	9	40
with School		Expected Count	31.3	8.7	40.0
Board	No	Count	12	3	15
Members		Expected Count	11.7	3.3	15.0
Total		Count	43	12	55
		Expected Count	43.0	12.0	55.0

Cross Tabulation for Working with School Board Members and Training Needed

There was no statistically significant relationship indicated between working with school board members on technology projects and training needed. The details for this finding are presented in Table 35.

Table 35

Chi-Square Test for Working with School Board Members and Training Needed

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)
Pearson Chi- Square	.040	1	.842
Likelihood Ratio	.041	1	.841
N of Valid Cases	55		

Each respondent stated that they were responsible for completing administrative paperwork for the district. No statistical analysis was necessary because this variable was constant.

A majority of participants indicated that they were responsible for managing the district network system and believed that they needed additional training. The details for this finding are presented in Table 36.

Table 36

			Training Needed		
			Yes	No	Total
Managing	Yes	Count	30	7	37
District Network		Expected Count	28.9	8.1	37.0
	No	Count	13	5	18
		Expected Count	14.1	3.9	18.0
Total		Count	43	12	55
		Expected Count	43.0	12.0	55.0

Cross Tabulation for Physically Managing the District Network System and Training Needed

There was no significant relationship indicated between technology coordinator's physically managing the district network system and their perceived need for additional training. The chi-square test for this item is presented in Table 37.

Table 37

Chi-Square for Physically Managing the District Network System and Training Needed

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)
Pearson Chi- Square	.557	1	.455
Likelihood Ratio	.542	1	.462
N of Valid Cases	55		

Participants were asked whether planning technology related professional development was a part of their duties. A cross tabulation was prepared for this variable and whether or not technology coordinators determined that additional training was necessary. A majority of technology coordinators did have planning for professional development as one of the job responsibilities and also believed they needed additional training. The details for this finding are shown in Table 38.

Table 38

			Training Needed			
			Yes	No	Total	
Planning	Yes	Count	41	10	51	
professional development		Expected Count	39.9	11.1	51.0	
I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	No	Count	2	2	4	
		Expected Count	3.1	.9	4.0	
Total		Count	43	12	55	
		Expected Count	43.0	12.0	55.0	

Cross Tabulation for Planning Technology Related Professional Development and Training Needed

There was no indication of a significant relationship between planning technology related professional development and perceived training needed. A detail of this finding is presented in Table 39.

Table 39

Chi-Square Test for Planning Technology Related Professional Development
and Training Needed

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)
Pearson Chi- Square	2.008	1	.156
Likelihood Ratio	1.679	1	.195
N of Valid Cases	55		

Summary of Results

This purpose of this chapter was to provide the statistical results from the survey completed as a part of this research. Descriptive statistics and Pearson Chi-Square were used to analyze the data set obtained and to answer the research questions that were presented in this study.

The results of this study indicated that technology coordinators have a multitude of responsibilities that vary greatly. The majority of participants in this study are responsible for duties that range from working one-on-one with teachers, installing and troubleshooting hardware and software, purchasing technology resources, planning technology related professional development activities for other staff members, as well as other duties. One responsibility that a majority of technology coordinators in this study did not share was working with students. Only 29% of respondents had this as part of their duties.

Many Mississippi technology coordinators were also responsible for a number of different roles within their school districts. For some technology coordinators they had

the responsibility of being superintendents, principals, curriculum coordinators, or held a number of other independent jobs that were not technology related. In addition, 36% of technology coordinators believed that additional administrative training would be most beneficial; 33% considered technical training the most beneficial.

This study did not find that a significant relationship existed between the type of training a technology coordinator found most necessary and whether or not technology coordinators possessed administrative, technical, or educational experience. In addition, this research did not find that a significant relationship existed between a technology coordinator's job responsibilities and whether or not they perceived the need for additional training.

CHAPTER V

SUMMARY, DISCUSSION, CONCLUSIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Summary

Technology coordinators provide a number of different services to school districts from providing technical support services, staff development, technology planning, and administrative support for teachers (Cox-Cruey, 1998; Lesisko, 2004). Research on the role of technology coordinators have indicated a variety of position titles, descriptions, and job responsibilities depending on the available state research. These professionals were often hired from a variety of backgrounds and often lacked either the technical training or theoretical educational foundation required for the position (Frazier, 2003; Hawkes & Brockmueller, 2003; Tomasso, 2003). More recent data on the position of Technology Coordinators in school districts was limited and no research was found identifying the role of the technology coordinator in Mississippi public school districts.

This study surveyed Mississippi technology coordinators to examine their characteristics, duties, and training needs. Information collected included variables such as gender, age, salary, and years of experience, educational background, technical training, workforce environment, and training needs. The research design for the study was descriptive. Descriptive statistics were used to respond to four research questions. A survey instrument was used to collect demographic data. The survey was emailed to 145 technology coordinators. Four technology coordinators opted out of the survey, eight emails were bounced back to the research and 55 responded for a response rate of 43.6%. Section I of the survey contained demographic data. Section II contained questions about the technology coordinator's duties and job characteristics and Section III contained questions about the perceived training needs of technology coordinators.

Discussion

The results of this study provided details about the characteristics of the technology coordinators in Mississippi school districts who participated in the study. The majority of participants were white males, whose ages ranged from 21 to over 65 years. Most participants did hold a valid Mississippi teaching license and there were a variety of license endorsements represented.

In addition to K-12 classroom teaching experience, a number of technology coordinators also had university classroom teaching experience. Some technology coordinators had no teaching experience at the university level or K-12. Specially, one technology coordinator had over 40 years teaching experience, while another had over 13 years of university teaching experience.

Some technology coordinators had many years of experience in educational administrative experience. For instance, one technology coordinator had over forty years of administrative experience, while some were new administrators with no previous experience in administration. There was also a variety of technical expertise. Approximately 30% of participants had no technical expertise before working as a technology coordinator. Other participants had as many of 25 years experience working in a technical position that required interaction with hardware, software, troubleshooting, and/or networks.

The salary and educational attainment levels of technology coordinators also varied greatly. The salary ranged from \$30,000 to over \$70,000. However, in many cases the role of technology coordinator was not the sole job responsibility for the participant. Some participants were also principals, assistant superintendents, curriculum developers, and high school teachers. In fact, 46% of technology coordinators were in dual roles, with some participating in more than two positions. The educational attainment level varied with some reporting associate degrees and others, doctoral degrees. The majority of participating technology coordinators possessed at least one IT certificate; many held a variety of certifications.

The job characteristics and duties of technology coordinators also provided a lot of variety. Some technology coordinators supervised full time and/or part time employees who provided technology assistance within the district, while others supervised no employees. Although a number of participants indicated they held official job titles other than technology coordinator such as Director of Technology or Director of Information Systems, the job title of technology coordinator was the most prevalent. This is one of the few categories that differed from some of the research done in previous states. There was more of a variety in job titles in some other states.

Technology coordinators were given the opportunity to select duties from a specified list of job responsibilities. The list included the following responsibilities including working one-on-one with classroom teachers, working with software installation and troubleshooting, working with hardware installation and troubleshooting, purchasing technology resources, working with students, handling subordinate personnel issues, informing staff about technology opportunities, researching emerging technologies, working with school board members on technology projects, completing administrative paperwork, physically managing a district network system, and planning technology related professional development activities. There were two responsibilities that every technology coordinator provided as one of their responsibilities and that was completing administrative paperwork and purchasing technology resources. Most technology coordinators professed to have every responsibility listed except for one, working with students. Only 29.7% of respondents acknowledged working with students as a responsibility.

A majority of respondents indicated they needed additional training to perform their duties effectively. Participants were given the opportunity to rank their most important training needs as administrative, technical, or educational research oriented. Administrative training was chosen more often than any other training need as most necessary. However, technical and educational research training were also popular choices. There was no clear cut indicator to suggest that one type of training was decidedly more important than any of the others.

Conclusion

The research findings based on the technology coordinators in Mississippi seem to parallel those of many other states. The position related duties of a Mississippi technology coordinator are quite vast and varied. In addition, it is not unusual for the technology coordinator to hold multiple roles, each with their own layers of responsibilities.

Collins and Dewees (2001) revealed that technology decision makers often have little or no technology training or resources to make knowledgeable decisions. As in the Collins study, many technology coordinators did not have technical backgrounds. However, the possession of a technical background did not appear to make a difference in whether or not technology coordinators needed additional technical training. Perhaps the underlying consistency in this study was that regardless of the technology coordinator's background many believed that they needed additional administrative, technical, and educational research training.

The lack of consistency in the level of responsibility, compensation, and perhaps expectations implies a different job at each school district for technology coordinators. For perspective, a 12th grade English teacher can move from district to district with a base level of understanding of what to expect. A technology coordinator's job can be different from district to district. This lack of consistency within the state for technology coordinator expectations, compensation, etc. would seem to make the position vulnerable for high turnover rates and low workplace satisfaction. In addition, with the myriad of job responsibilities, it is questionable whether technology coordinators would have the time necessary to truly help school districts integrate technology into curriculum. Technology coordinators must be aware upon entering a district that the job description may not be fully developed and should anticipate the need for additional training.

Recommendations for Mississippi Technology Coordinators and for Further Research

Based on the results of this study, there are several areas suggested for future research. These recommendations are listed below:

1. The results of the study indicated a variety of responsibilities for a technology coordinator. It would be beneficial that a study is conducted to determine how much time is devoted to the many individual tasks completed by technology coordinators because if this role is pivotal in helping integrate technology into curriculum, an understanding of how much time could be devoted to tasks related to that objective is necessary. For instance, a technology coordinator who spends most of his/her time installing hardware and software and troubleshooting network issues may only have a minimal amount of time or no time at all to working with teachers and share relevant research or provide professional development.

- 2. Respondents in this study indicated a desire to have additional training in administration, technology, and educational research. A study should be conducted that identifies training needs within each of these categories. For instance, what administrative training do technology coordinators find they need help with e.g. technology planning, applying for grants, etc.
- 3. Based on the findings in this study, it would be beneficial to know in what types of professional development technology coordinators are currently participating. Are these training opportunities task specific? Should they be task specific?

Some states have schools that have recognized that building or school level technology coordinators are beneficial to integrating technology. Therefore, a study should be conducted to determine if Mississippi schools districts are beginning to employ these specialists at the school building level.

REFERENCES

- Babbie, E. (1990). *Survey research methods*. Belmont, CA: Wadsworth Publishing Company.
- Beattie, R. (2000). The truth about tech support. *American School Board Journal*, 187(9), 30-32. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. EJ614588)
- Becker, C. M. (2007). An examination of the relationship between teachers' technological experiences, skills, and integrative practices. Ed.D. dissertation, University of Cincinnati, Cincinatti, OH. Retrieved May 19, 2008, from Dissertations & Theses: Full Text database. (Publication No. AAT 3263046).
- Brown, S. (1998). A field study of computer coordinators as change agents in three elementary schools. Ph.D. dissertation, The Florida State University, United Tallahassee, FL. Retrieved May 22, 2008, from Dissertations & Theses: Full Text database. (Publication No. AAT 9824700).
- CBS Interactive Inc. (n.d.). BNET Business Dictionary. Retrieved September 25, 2009, from http://dictionary.bnet.com/definition/training+needs.html
- ChanLin, L. (2005). Development of a questionnaire for determining the factors in technology integration among teachers. *Journal of Instructional Psychology*, *32*(4), 287-292.
- ChanLin, L. (2007). Perceived importance and manageability of teachers toward the factors of integrating computer technology into classrooms. *Innovations in Education & Teaching International, 44*(1), 45-55. doi:10.1080/14703290601090390.
- Collins, T. & Dewees, S. (2001). Challenge and Promise: Technology in the Classroom. *Rural South: Preparing for the Challenges of the 21st Century*, (18). (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED451992)

- Cox-Cruey, T. J. (1998). District technology coordinators: Change agents in Kentucky's age of technology. Ed.D. dissertation, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY. Retrieved May 22, 2008, from Dissertations & Theses: Full Text database. (Publication No. AAT 9831360).
- Dikkers, A., Hughes, J., & McLeod, S. (2005). A bridge to success: STLI. *T.H.E. Journal*, *32*(11), 20-24.
- Doughty, V. (2007). An instructional designer learns about technology integration: Developmental work research in an urban school. La Vergne, TN: Lightning Source, Inc.
- Ertmer, P. (2005). Teacher pedagogical beliefs: The final frontier in our quest for technology integration. *Educational Technology Research & Development*, 53(4), 25-39.
- Fraenkel, J. R. & Wallen, N.E. (2003). *How to design and evaluate research in education*, (5th Edition). Boston, MA: McGraw Hill.
- Frazier, M. K. (2003). The technology coordinator in K-12 school districts: The research, development, and validation of a technology leader's guide. Ed.D. dissertation, Kansas State University, Manhattan, KS. Retrieved May 22, 2008, from Dissertations & Theses: Full Text database. (Publication No. AAT 3100547).
- Fuller, H. (2000). First teach their teachers: Technology support and computer use in academic subjects. *Journal of Research on Computing in Education*, 32(4), 511.
- Hawkes, M., & Brockmueller, B. (2003). Gender differentials in school computer technology support roles: An analysis. *Journal of Educational Technology Systems*, *32*(1), 31-45.
- Hinson, J., Laprairie, K., & Cundiff, J. (2005). One size does not fit all. *T.H.E. Journal*, *32*(11), 26-30.
- Hofer, M., Chamberlin, B., & Scot, T. (2004). Fulfilling the need for a technology integration specialist. *T.H.E. Journal*, *32*(3), 34-39.
- Hoffman, B. (1996). Managing the information revolution: Planning the integration of school technology. *NASSP Bulletin*, 80(582), 89-98.

- Hokanson, B., Hooper, S., & Association for Educational Communications and Technology, (2004). Integrating technology in classrooms: We have met the enemy and he is us. Association for Educational Communications and Technology. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED485143)
- King-Sears, M., & Evmenova, A. (2007). Premises, principles, and processes for integrating technology into instruction. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 40(1), 6-14.
- Kohler, A. (1995). Perceptions of the position of building level technology coordinator within the state of Florida. Ed.D. dissertation, University of Central Florida, Orlando, FL. Retrieved May 22, 2008, from Dissertations & Theses: Full Text database. (Publication No. AAT 9605255).
- Lesisko, L. (2004). *Characteristics and responsibilities of technology coordinators employed in public school districts in the commonwealth of Pennsylvania. Ed.D. dissertation*, Widener University, Chester, PA. Retrieved May 22, 2008, from Dissertations & Theses: Full Text database. (Publication No. AAT 3167654).
- Levinson, E., & Surratt, J. (1999, July). Still have a 1985-model tech? *Converge*, *2*(7), 56-57.
- Lewis, K. J. (2005). The role of technology specialists in rural unit districts in Illinois: An assessment of the perceptions of superintendents and technology coordinators. Ph.D. dissertation, Illinois State University, Normal, IL. Retrieved October 29, 2006, from ProQuest Digital Dissertations database. (Publication No. AAT 3196652).
- MacDonald, L., & Caverly, D. (2006, Winter). Techtalk: Word processing from adoption to innovation. *Journal of Developmental Education*, *30*(2), 36-37.
- McLeod, S. (2003). National district technology coordinators study. Technical report 1: Personal and professional characteristics. Naperville, IL: North Central Regional Educational Laboratory, United States Department of Education. Retrieved May 22, 2008, from http://schooltechleadership.squarespace.com/storage/ 2003_stli_ncrel_technical_report_01.pdf
- McGrath, D., & Sands, N. (2004). Taking the plunge: A school district commits to a fiveyear plan for technology-infused PBL. *Learning and Leading with Technology*, 31(7), 34-36. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. EJ695766)
- Moursund, D. (1992). *The technology coordinator*. Eugene, OR: International Society for Technology in Education.

- Nadler, L. (1984). *The handbook of human resource development (Glossary)*. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons.
- Nardi, P. (2003). Doing survey research. Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Platte, K. A. (1997). Is the educational level of technology coordinators aligned with international standards? M.Ed. dissertation, Grand Valley State University, Allendale, MI. Retrieved October 29, 2006, from ProQuest Digital Dissertations database. (Publication No. AAT 1388749).
- Reilly, R. (1999). The technology coordinator: Curriculum leader or electronic janitor? *Multimedia Schools*, 6(3), 38.
- Ritchie, D. (1996, October). The administrative role in the integration of technology. *NASSP Bulletin*, *80*(582), 42-52.
- Salas, E., & Cannon-Bowers, J. (2001). The science of training: A decade of progress. Annual Review of Psychology, 52(1), 471.
- Silverstein, G., Frechtling, J., & Miyaoka, A. (2000). Evaluation of the use of technology in Illinois public schools: Final report. Illinois State Board of Education. Retrieved March 14, 2007 from http://www.isbe.state.il.us/ research/pdfs/technology_exec_summary.pdf
- Socha, A. (2010). Students' assessments of instruction: A validity study. M.A. dissertation, Western Carolina University, Cullowhee, NC. Retrieved September 26, 2009, from Dissertations & Theses: Full Text. (Publication No. AAT 1462244).
- Song, H. (2004). The perceptions of college students regarding the instructional quality of online courses delivered via WebCT. Ed.D. dissertation, University of Houston, Houston, TX. Retrieved June 12, 2008, from Dissertations & Theses: Full Text database. (Publication No. AAT 3150368).
- Staples, A., Pugach, M., & Himes, D. (2005). Rethinking the technology integration challenge: Cases from three urban elementary schools. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 37(3), 285-311.
- Tomasso, B. (2003). The educational computing coordinator in New York State: Scope and functions. Ed.D. dissertation, Syracuse University, Syracuse, NY. Retrieved October 31, 2006, from ProQuest Digital Dissertations database. (Publication No. AAT 3081657).

- Wagner, W. W., Jr. (2004). The technology coordinator: Key characteristics and traits of successful educational technology leaders. Ed.D. dissertation, Ashland University, Ashland, OH. Retrieved October 29, 2006, from ProQuest Digital Dissertations database. (Publication No. AAT 3152209).
- Wright, P. J. (2007). Effective leadership: An analysis of the relationship between transformational leadership and organizational climate. Ph.D. dissertation, Capella University, Minneapolis, MN. Retrieved June 12, 2008, from Dissertations & Theses: Full Text database. (Publication No. AAT 3264296).
- Voogt, R., & Van Kempen, H. (2002, November). Nonresponse bias and stimulus effects in the Dutch national election study. *Quality & Quantity*, *36*(4), 325-345.

APPENDIX A

DISTRICT LEVEL TECHNOLOGY COORDINATOR SURVEY

LESISKO (2004)

Phase answer the following questions by circling the appropriate latter or by filling in the biania(s).

PART & BACKEROUND INFORMATION

1.	Gender:	A. Maie	8. Female			
2.	Ap:					
3.	Race:		lion-Hispanic Ic Islandar			
4.	Tetal number (afyan ni workin j	in education: _			
5.	Your highert c	allege de gree is	: Major:			
6.	Do you haid a	professional tea	ching curtificati	i in PA?	A. Yes	E. No
7.	•			•	-	Microsoft, A+, Novell.
8.		you been emp feansMo	i cyed in yo ur cu nthi	rrent school di	strict as the	Tach noi ogy
D.	What is your a	xact position til	ie spproved by	the Board of Ec	iuntion?	
10.	What is the tot	tal number of st	tudenta e prolied	in your district	t P	
11	What percent	(%) of the total	district budget i	s allocated for	technology	r%
12		tic of students t nts to 9 c	to competen in Dimputers	your district?		
			PART IL JOB REI	ATED ACTIVITI	2	
13.	What percents	ige of your resp	orsbilties & de	voted to the re	ie of Tech	nology Coordinator?

A. 1-25% 8.26-56% C. 51-75% D. 76-106%

- 14. If ye a do not perform tack as logy can release 100 percent of the time, pieces indicate other areas of requestivity?
- 19. Acting a the Technology Coordinator, who is you risemediate aspervisor?
 - A. Bugaristas dest
 - 8. And stant 8 apertate advect
 - C. Directory's operations of Counter Issue & Instruction
 - D. Other (please specify) ___
- 10. How many district buildings are you responsible for courdinating to does logy effects? ______
- Finance is directed if your positions fail and der time and radio of Act 93^a
 A. You H. H. N.

"If "No", are yes paret of the professional languaging an tyl A Yes U. K a

- 10. How many employees do you supervise who provide technology excitance within the district on a failt in a local?
- How many employees do yes reporting who provide technology and taken with in the district on a part-time leadsfit
- Do you plan technology-rainted professional development activities for the professional staff?
 A. You B. No
- Do you is slid the FA Department of Educations instructional Technology Synchrist Certificate?
 A. You S. Nu

F"Ter", precised to quantize 13.

- 22. Are yes presently enrolled is an approved program to some the PAD operturned of Education instruction of Technology Syncholet Cartificate? A. Yas S. Nu
 - * F"No", do ye o plan to in the fature? A.Yas B. No
- Do you bold the FA Department of Education is a retion of Technology Specialist Supervisor Contificato? A. You S. No
 - * If "Ter", proceed to go estion 25.

- 24. As a year preselly encoded in an approved program to earn the PA Department of Education instruction of Technology 5 periods: Supervisor Certificate? A. Yes — B. H. a
 - " if "No", do you plan to in the fature? A. Yes B. No.
- 25. One gives day, what permutage of year time is devoted to:

Note: year maseer west add up to 10 KK

- ____% we dog ane-an-ane with classroom teachers to integrate te choology into their classroom a and media centers?
- ____% working with software installation and tracklesia ating?
- ____% we rising with backware installation and track is shorting?
- ____% purchasing tackets by resource @
- ____% working with students in order to help them at like educational technology?
- ____% handling sub-ordinate personnel issues?
- ____% Informing staff almost te choology apport and ies through e-mails, memory, near sixteers, meetings, etc.?
- ____% researching emerging technologies?
- _____% we rising with Beard members as technology related projects?
- ____% can plettag administrative page non rk?
- ____% physically a surging the district action is system s?

196%

PART III: BELIEFE AND PERCEPTIONS

Plane drain the reacher that corresponds but to yer behave.

1 = Disagram stanogly; 2 = Disagram; 3 = Nantral; 4 = Agram; 5 = Agram strangly;

13349	28. The teachers is the district are well informed about correct educational technology inner.
13349	27. The teachers in the district routinely utilize educational tack a logy for lostraction.
13345	28. Tauchara have edequate access to educational technology when they used it for lastractics.
13349	28. The district has an ample amount of educational technology available for student am.
13349	39. The teachers is the district are properly trained as here to atlike educational technology.
13349	31. The tendens is the district receive cent is seen to choolegy preferational development.
12343	32. The district offers adequate tack so by support services.
13349	33. The Technology Courdinator understands the technology concerns of the teachers in the district.
12345	34. When teachers as in it technology requests for service, they are rectified in a timely manner.
13349	39. As the Tachneingy Court Instar, you fast that your efforts are inving a post to effect on the educators with where yes work.
13349	36. Commily appealing, you feel that your performance witho Technology Coordinator has been successful.

- 37. Please rank the following items in order of importance (1 through 7), as they relate in your position with 1 being the most and 7 as the least important. Please do not doplicate numbers.
 - _____ Helping teachers to utilize technology is the classroom
 - _____ Prividing technical support services for the district
 - _____ Keeping current with technology issues and trends
 - _____ Physically working with hurdware
 - _____ Physically working with software
 - _____ liciping stolents to utilize educational technology
 - _____ Developing incorretive ways to encourage educators to use technology

Please provide can ments and/or reactions.

As a failen-up to this study, may incontact you far a short interview? If m, phase print your name and phase comber.

Name:_____

Phone Domber: _____

Thank you for completing this survey

APPENDIX B

REQUEST TO USE DISTRICT TECHNOLOGY COORDINATOR SURVEY

Dr. Lesisko,

My name is Vicki Webster and I am a doctoral student at Mississippi State University in the Department of Instructional Systems and Workforce Development. Your dissertation has provided valuable insight and understanding in a topic that interests me greatly. I would like to modify your District Level Technology Coordinator Survey for use with my dissertation. If you decide to approve of my use of the survey, I would also like permission to record your approval as part of my final dissertation documentation, if necessary.

Please let me know if this is acceptable with you. I would like to thank you, in advance, for taking the time to consider this request.

If I can be of any future assistance to you, please let me know. For additional information or concerns, I can be contacted at vwebster@deltastate.edu or 662.588.1262.

Sincerely,

Vicki N. Webster

APPENDIX C

APPROVAL TO USE DISTRICT TECHNOLOGY COORDINATOR SURVEY

Hello Vicki, I am glad you found my study helpful. You have my permission to modify the survey to use in your study. If you want me to sign a document as such, please send it and I will electronically sign it. Good luck on your study.

Dr. Lee J. Lesisko Pleasant Valley School District APPENDIX D

INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD (IRB) APPROVAL



Office of Regulatory Compliance Post Office Box 6223 Mississippi State, MS 39762

June 12, 2009

Animal Care and Use (IACUC) Human Research Protection Program (IRB) 1207 Hwy 182 West Starkville, MS 39759 (662) 325-3496 - fax

Compliance Division

Administrative Offices

Safety Division

Biosafety (IBC) Radiation Safety Hazardous Waste Chemical & Lab Safety 70 Morgan Avenue Mississippi State, MS 39762 (662) 325-8776 - fax

http://www.orc.msstate.edu compliance@research.msstate.edu (662) 325-3294 Vicki Webster 407 McClain Avenue Cleveland, MS 38732

RE: IRB Study #09-020: An Examination of the Characteristics, Duties, and Training Needs of District Level Technology Coordinators in Mississippi School Districts

Dear Ms. Webster:

The above referenced project was reviewed and approved via administrative review on 6/12/2009 in accordance with 45 CFR 46.101(b)(2). Continuing review is not necessary for this project. However, any modification to the project must be reviewed and approved by the IRB prior to implementation. Any failure to adhere to the approved protocol could result in suspension or termination of your project. The IRB reserves the right, at anytime during the project period, to observe you and the additional researchers on this project.

Please note that the MSU IRB is in the process of seeking accreditation for our human subjects protection program. As a result of these efforts, you will likely notice many changes in the IRB's policies and procedures in the coming months. These changes will be posted online at http://www.orc.msstate.edu/human/aahrpp.php. The first of these changes is the implementation of an approval stamp for consent forms. The approval

stamp will assist in ensuring the IRB approved version of the consent form is used in the actual conduct of research.

Please refer to your IRB number (#09-020) when contacting our office regarding this application.

Thank you for your cooperation and good luck to you in conducting this research project. If you have questions or concerns, please contact me at cwilliams@research.msstate.edu or call 662-325-5220.

Sincerely,

[For use with electronic submissions]

Christine Williams IRB Compliance Administrator

cc: Linda Cornelious

APPENDIX E

TECHNOLOGY SURVEY EMAIL

Dear Respondent,

I am inviting you to participate in a research project on the characteristics, duties, and training needs of technology coordinators in Mississippi school districts. I am a doctoral student at Mississippi State University in the Department of Instructional Systems and Workforce Development. This research will help me understand the working environment and background of district level technology coordinators in the state of Mississippi as well as their possible training needs. The research will also be used in the completion of a dissertation in partial fulfillment of the requirements for my doctoral degree.

I do not know of any risks to you if you decide to participate in this survey. This questionnaire should take less than fifteen minutes to complete. Please understand that your participation is voluntary and your refusal to participate will involve no penalty or loss of benefits to which you are otherwise entitled. You may discontinue your participation at any time without penalty or loss of benefits. If you do not wish to participate, simply click the opt out link and you will not be contacted further.

Keep this email for your records. If you have any questions regarding the research, contact Vicki Webster at 662-846-4423. If you have any questions regarding your rights as a research subject, please contact the Office of Regulatory Compliance at 662-325-5220.

Please click the following link if you are interested in completing this survey.<u>https://www.surveymonkey.com/s.aspx</u>

If you would prefer not to participate in this survey, please click the following link.<u>https://www.surveymonkey.com/optout.aspx</u>

APPENDIX F

TECHNOLOGY COORDINATOR SURVEY

An Examination of the Characteristics and Duties of Technology Coordinators in Mississippi School Districts

- 1. Gender:
 - ___ Male ___ Female
- 2. Age:
 - ____21-25
 - ____26-35
 - _____36-45
 - _____46 55
 - _____56 65 _____Over 65
- 3. Ethnicity
 - ___ American Indian or Alaska Native
 - ___ Asian
 - ___Black or African American
 - ___ Hispanic or Latino ___ White
- 4. Do you hold a valid Mississippi teaching license: __Yes __No
- 5. Please list any license endorsements that you have held:
- 6. Have you ever taught in a K-12 classroom environment: __Yes __No
- 7. Have you ever taught in a university classroom environment: __Yes __No
- 8. Total number of years you have taught in a K-12 classroom:
- 9. Total number of years you have taught in a university classroom:
- 10. Total number of years you have worked in an administrative position in a school district:

- 11. Total number of years you have worked in an administrative position in a school district that does not include the technology coordinator position:
- 12. Have you ever worked in a position that required technical expertise before you began working as a technology coordinator:
 - __Yes __No
- 13. Total number of years that you have worked "part-time" as a technology coordinator:
- 14. Total number of years that you have worked "full-time" as a technology coordinator:
- 15. Total number of years you have worked in an technical position (that does not include technology coordinator) that required interaction with hardware, software, troubleshooting, networks, etc:
- 16. Your current salary (gross per year):
 - ____ under \$30,000
 - __\$30,000 \$39,999
 - ____\$40,000 \$49,999
 - \$50,000 \$59,999
 - ____\$60,000 69,999
 - ___ \$70,000 and over
- 17. Your highest college degree:
 - ___ Doctoral degree
 - ___ Educational Specialist degree or more
 - ____ Masters degree or more
 - ___Bachelors degree or more
 - ___ Associates degree or more
- 18. Do you hold any IT certificates

__Yes __No

- 19. Please select any IT certifications you hold (Select all that apply):
 - CompTIA's A+ certification
 - ___ Cisco Certified Network Associate (CCNA)
 - ____ Cisco Certified Network Professional (CCNP)
 - Microsoft Certified Database Administrator (MCDBA)
 - ____ Microsoft Certified IT Professional (MCITP)
 - ____ Microsoft Certified Professional (MCP)

_ Microsoft Certified Trainer (MCT)

- ____ Microsoft Certified Technology Specialist (MCTS)
- Microsoft Certified Systems Engineer (MCSE)
- CompTIA Network + Certification
- ___ CompTIA Security + Certification
- ___ Other
- 20. How many years have you been employed as a district technology coordinator:
- 21. What is your exact position title as approved by your local school district:
- 22. Are you currently holding a position in addition to your technology coordinator position:

Yes No

- 23. If you are currently holding a position in addition to your technology coordinator position, please enter the title.
- 24. How many employees do you supervise who provide technology assistance within the district on a full time basis.
- 25. How many employees do you supervise who provide technology assistance within the district on a part time basis.
- 26. Select any of the following duties that are a part of your responsibility as technology coordinator:
 - ___ Working one-on-one with classroom teachers
 - ____ Working with software installation and troubleshooting
 - Working with hardware installation and troubleshooting
 - ___ Purchasing technology resources
 - ____ Working with students
 - _____Handling subordinate personnel issues
 - ____ Informing staff about technology opportunities
 - Researching emerging technologies
 - ____ Working with school board members on technology projects
 - Completing administrative paperwork
 - Physically managing the district network system
 - Planning technology related professional development activities
 - __Other

27. Do you currently believe you need additional training to perform your technology coordinator duties effectively:

____Yes ____No

28. Please rank the type of training that you believe would be most necessary for your success as a technology coordinator on a scale of 1 to 3, with 1 representing the type of training that would be **most** helpful and 3 representing the type of training that would be the **least** helpful for you.

____ Administrative Training (ex. would include technology plan creation)

____ Technical Training (ex. hardware, software, networks)

____ Educational Research Training (ex. would include learning about emerging technologies)

- 29. How often do you receive technology coordinator related training? (select the most appropriate)
 - ___ Never
 - __Once a year
 - ____ At least twice a year
 - ____ More than twice a year
 - __ Other
- 30. Do you believe you have received enough training to perform your duties effectively:
 - ____Yes ____No

APPENDIX G

FOLLOW UP EMAIL

Dear Respondent,

This email represents a second invitation requesting your participation in a research project on the characteristics, duties, and training needs of technology coordinators in Mississippi school districts. I am a doctoral student at Mississippi State University in the Department of Instructional Systems and Workforce Development. This research will help me understand the working environment and background of district level technology coordinators in the state of Mississippi as well as their possible training needs. The research will also be used in the completion of a dissertation in partial fulfillment of the requirements for my doctoral degree.

I do not know of any risks to you if you decide to participate in this survey. This questionnaire should take less than fifteen minutes to complete. Please understand that your participation is voluntary and your refusal to participate will involve no penalty or loss of benefits to which you are otherwise entitled. You may discontinue your participation at any time without penalty or loss of benefits. If you do not wish to participate, simply click the opt out link and you will not be contacted further.

Keep this email for your records. If you have any questions regarding the research, contact Vicki Webster at 662-846-4423. If you have any questions regarding your rights as a research subject, please contact the Office of Regulatory Compliance at 662-325-5220.

Please click the following link if you are interested in completing this survey.<u>https://www.surveymonkey.com/s.aspx</u>

If you would prefer not to participate in this survey, please click the following link.<u>https://www.surveymonkey.com/optout.aspx</u>

APPENDIX H

PILOT STUDY: SURVEY INSTRUMENT ASSESSMENT FORM

An Examination of the Characteristics, Duties, & Training Needs of Technology Coordinators in Mississippi School Districts

Survey Instrument Assessment Form for Pilot Study

Directions: Please read the directions for each part of the survey instrument attached. If an error appears in the directions, please mark that error on the form. As you review the instrument, please read each statement for clarity, preciseness of instructions, and appropriateness of content. Statements that are unclear, vague, or ambiguous should be listed in the space provided. Please make suggestions and recommendations that would improve the survey instrument in the space entitled "Comments".

Part I – Background Information

Unclear Statements:
Comments:
Part II – Job Characteristics and Duties
Unclear Statements:
Comments:
Part III – Training Needs
Unclear Statements:
Comments: